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    Foreword




    Thirty-two years separated the major exploring voyages of Cook and Flinders on the coasts of Australia. During that time five French expeditions visited these shores. In March 1772, two years after Cook had examined the east coast, two Frenchmen were ashore at opposite ends of the island continent, on territory not seen by Cook. Their voyages, both begun at the French colony of Mauritius, had been planned without knowledge of Cook’s discovery. Saint-Allouarn, at Shark Bay, had buried a parchment claiming possession of Australia’s western coast. On the east coast of Tasmania, Marion Dufresne was making the first European contact with the Aborigines of that island, at Marion Bay. The countrymen who were to succeed these explorers were La Pérouse (1788), d’Entrecasteaux (1792 and 1793), and Baudin (1801–1803).




    Marion’s ten-week sojourn in New Zealand occurred only two-and-a-half years after the visits of Cook and Marion’s countryman de Surville. The expedition’s records are a rich source of information on Maori lore prior to European settlement, and of clues about a historical tragedy that has led to continuing speculation.




    To Australian readers, and no doubt to New Zealand readers too, Edward Duyker’s biography of Marion Dufresne will be a reminder, or a revelation, of the international context in which the English explorations of their homelands took place. In this it builds on the foundation laid by John Dunmore’s French Explorers in the Pacific and Oscar Spate’s trilogy The Pacific Since Magellan. To all readers it will, like every good historical biography, illuminate the times through which its subject lived—in this case the maritime world of eighteenth-century France.




    Marion’s seagoing career began when he was eleven and continued for thirty-seven years, spanning two major wars and equipping him with the skills, experience and interests that fitted him for his last great maritime enterprise. At various times in command of corsairs, naval vessels and merchant ships, he took part not only in convoys, naval engagements, trading voyages and raids on enemy merchantmen but also in a number of special assignments and personal enterprises well out of the usual line of duty. One of the most remarkable was his command, at twenty-two, of the ship that rescued the Young Pretender from Scotland in 1746. The reputation he acquired, during his long career, as a most reliable and resourceful mariner no doubt made him one of the examples that were to encourage the gradual relaxation of the frustrating class barriers faced by ‘officers of the blue’ in the navy of eighteenth-century France.




    One wonders, had he survived his voyage to Australia and the Pacific, what he might have achieved in the great age of French maritime exploration that lay ahead, planned and overseen by Fleurieu, de Castries and Louis XVI, and opening up when the next war, the War of American Independence, was over.




    The achievement of Edward Duyker goes well beyond writing an absorbing narrative, though his success in that respect is obvious. He has had to assemble a mass of information, both primary and secondary, from many countries and very diverse sources. Unlike most French exploring captains, Marion served only intermittently in the navy, whose archives therefore record only part of his career; and no personal account of his final voyage has been found. In filling the gaps Dr Duyker has brought to light a remarkable amount of fascinating detail, and little of the subject’s career seems left to be surmised. This biography is a notable addition to the maritime history of France, New Zealand and Australia.




    Frank Horner
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      These voyages of the French, tho’ undertaken by private Adventurers, have been productive of some usefull discoveries, as well as contributing in exploaring the Southern Oceans.




      James Cook, 1775


    


  




  

    Introduction




    On the afternoon of 12 June 1772 a French officer in his late forties wearing a coat of scarlet and blue English velvet landed at Te Hue cove in New Zealand’s Bay of Islands. He was accompanied by a number of his fellow officers, a longboat crew and a black slave. They had landed at Te Hue many times in the previous weeks and had enjoyed good relations with the local Maoris. That afternoon they planned to fish with a seine. They were never to return to their ship. Everyone of them was surprised and killed and their bodies devoured according to Maori rite. The officer’s name was Marc-Joseph Marion Dufresne1 and the wounds to his side and to his head or neck brought to an end one of the most colourful careers in the annals of French maritime history.




    I first heard of Marion Dufresne while researching the role of Mauritius (then the Isle de France) as a base for French exploration of Australia. My interest in his life became keener when I learned that he had actually settled on my mother’s native island. In fact the land he acquired in 1769 became part of the sugar estate where my mother spent her early childhood and where my grandfather was mortally wounded by an assassin’s knife. In my preliminary research of his family, I also discovered a number of surprising connections with my own ancestors in Saint Malo, Lorient and Brest. But this biography is not the product of a genealogical adventure; more than anything it was the enigmatic circumstances of Marion’s death and his omission from published Australian history which spurred me to begin more serious scholarship. Marion deserves better than to be ignored by the Australian Dictionary of Biography and the Australian Encyclopaedia. I could be cynical and suggest that had he been English he might have fared better. Yet he is often absent from the pages of French reference works. This is despite the fact that in 1772 he discovered the most westerly islands in the Indian Ocean, was the first explorer after Tasman to visit Tasmania (then Van Diemen’s Land) and was one of the earliest European visitors to New Zealand.




    Although Marion will always remain in the shadow of his contemporary, James Cook, both men share striking parallels in their lives. Both were brilliant mariners who proved their skills in merchant shipping before joining the Royal Navy of their respective nations. Both were involved in scientific efforts to observe the transit of Venus. Both sought the whereabouts of the South Land and both eliminated its possibility in various latitudes. Finally, both died tragically at the hands of Polynesians.




    Greater knowledge of Marion’s life offers numerous insights for Australian and New Zealand historians, but also elucidates aspects of 18th century Anglo-French rivalry and the course of exploration and colonization in the Indian Ocean and the Pacific. While Marion’s early success as a privateer, his part in the daring rescue of Bonnie Prince Charlie, his numerous voyages to the East and his entrepreneurial boldness beg biographical description, they also help explain the making of an explorer. As a number of anthropologists and historians have pointed out, explorers themselves are ‘an ethnographic problem’. To understand the early interaction between European visitors and the indigenous peoples of Australia and the Pacific, biography can provide crucial interpretative clues.




    Despite the dramatic breadth of Marion’s life, the few scholars who have written about him, or his exploits, have mainly dealt with his final voyage. The first published account of this expedition of 1771–1772 was undertaken by the astronomer and voyager Alexis Marie de Rochon (1741–1817)—sometimes referred to as the Abbé Rochon although he was never ordained and eventually married. Rochon edited the journal of Julien Crozet (1728–1782), Marion’s second-in-command on the Mascarin. Rochon’s effort appeared in Paris, in 1783, under the title Nouveau voyage à la mer du sud. It is an important source because Crozet’s original ship-board account has disappeared; only a summary has survived in manuscript form. This 18th century text was the only readily accessible account for more than a century and was most certainly known to later French explorers who followed in Marion’s tracks such as d’Entrecasteaux, La Pérouse, Baudin and d’Urville. It also provided the raw material for Alexandre Dumas’ Capitaine Marion and for Jules Verne’s account of Marion’s demise in Les enfants du Capitaine Grant (1868).




    Despite the significance of Crozet/Rochon’s book, it was not translated into English until 1891. The translation, Crozet’s Voyage to Tasmania, New Zealand, the Ladrone Islands and the Philippines in the Years 1771–1772, was the work of the remarkable Austrian anthropologist and author Henry Ling Roth (1855–1925). Roth probably came across Rochon’s version of Crozet’s journal while undertaking research for his pioneering book The Aborigines of Tasmania (1890). The historical significance of Crozet’s description of the Tasmanian Aborigines would have been immediately obvious to him. Unfortunately, Roth was responsible for perpetuating a misapprehension of the identity of Crozet’s commander which had already crept into French biographical dictionaries. The explorer Marc-Joseph Marion Dufresne was confused with one Nicolas-Thomas Marion five years his junior but also a native of Saint Malo. In his introduction, Roth even cited an extract of Nicolas-Thomas’s baptismal registration provided by a British Vice-Consul. This mistake still appears in many French reference works and library catalogues, despite the fact that it was a French scholar, Janine Lemay, who settled the question of the identity of the explorer in 1948.




    Twenty-three years after Henry Ling Roth published Crozet’s Voyage, the second volume of the Historical Records of New Zealand was published under the editorial hand of Robert McNab. Included in this second volume were translations of extracts from the journals of Marion’s subordinates Roux and du Clesmeur. These translations (which only referred to New Zealand) were undertaken by Charles Wilson (1857–1932) of the General Assembly Library. Born in Harrogate Yorkshire, he had become fluent in French while working in the wool trade in Paris and Lille, before emigrating to New Zealand in 1879. Wilson’s and Roth’s translations remained the two major published sources available to English-speaking scholars until 1985 when the Alexander Turnbull Library, Wellington, published Isabel Ollivier’s skilful transcriptions and translations of extracts from the journals of Crozet, du Clesmeur, Roux and Le Dez, together with Chevillard de Montesson’s summary (held by the State Library of Tasmania) and observations by the hydrographer d’Après de Mannevillette. Once again, these more recent translations emphasized Marion’s visit to New Zealand. It was not until 1992 that the observations on Tasmania of all these officers appeared in translation in one volume under my own editorial hand.




    While the journals associated with Marion Dufresne’s final voyage became more accessible as translated extracts, details of the explorer’s life prior to his voyage into southern waters were still fragmentary. In May 1883 one Joseph Marion, a municipal councillor in Lancrans in the Department of Ain, wrote to Paris requesting a copy of Marion Dufresne’s service record. The Lancrans councillor’s motivation was probably to establish a genealogical connection with a celebrated explorer and thereby enhance his local prestige; fortunately for posterity, his request stimulated the Archives Nationales to consolidate many of Marion’s documents in dossiers. They were ultimately employed by the great Breton scholar Henri-François Buffet (1907–1974) for his biographical article published in the Memoires de la société d’histoire et d’archéologie de Bretagne in 1958. I have used Buffet’s seven-page survey like a map for buried treasure. Not only does it contain the fruits of research in the Archives Nationales, it also contains the product of research in the port archives of Lorient, Brest and Saint Malo.




    On the other side of the world, in 1951, Leslie Kelly (1906–1959) published a detailed study entitled Marion Dufresne at the Bay of Islands which dealt with the explorer’s sojourn and death in New Zealand. Kelly was a remarkable individual who earned his daily bread as an engine driver but, before his tragic death in a railway accident, wrote a number of pioneering New Zealand historical works. The grandson of Kenehuru, chief of the Ngati Mahutu, his book on Marion Dufresne has the mark of insight drawn from close links to the Maoris. Unfortunately, Kelly had access to the accounts of only three of Marion’s officers translated by Henry Ling Roth and Charles Wilson.




    Other contributions to our knowledge of Marion’s life and family have come from Kelly’s compatriot Professor John Dunmore in his French Explorers in the Pacific (1965); the French naval historian Admiral de Brossard in his book Moana océan cruel (1966); and the Malouin historian Patrick Delon in the Annales de la société d’histoire et d’archéologie de Saint Malo (1972). More recently, Anne Salmond, another New Zealander with deep cultural sensitivity, has undertaken a significant reassessment of the events leading up to Marion’s death in her work Two Worlds: First Meetings Between Maori and Europeans 1642–1772 (1991).




    Despite the good fortune of having a number of path-finders, I have been disappointed several times while researching Marion Dufresne’s life. In particular, I was frustrated by my inability to find Marion’s personal account of his final voyage. Although this journal may be lost forever, my feeling is that Julien Crozet appropriated parts of it to enrich his own account. Crozet almost certainly had access to Marion’s journal after his commander’s death and there are passages in his published account which seem drawn from sources other than those of his editor Rochon. I have also been frustrated in my attempts to discover the fate of Marion’s wife, Julie, after she requested permission to join her husband at the Isle de France in May 1771. Finally, I have been disappointed by my inability to uncover any contemporary portrait of the explorer. Had he a sea-weathered Breton face crowned with a shock of red Celtic hair or were his features beguilingly Latin? The only information I could glean from documentary sources is that at the age of 48 years, Marion had hair thick enough for Maori chiefs to plant four feathers on the top of his head! I have had to content myself with the image of the explorer by the celebrated French etcher Charles Méryon (1821–1868). This is a crayon, pencil and chalk sketch depicting Marion’s death according to the dictates of 19th century historical painting. Méryon visited New Zealand in the 1840s with the French navy and executed his sketch in Paris about 1850 probably as a preliminary study for a more substantial work. It was later acquired by the Commonwealth of Australia and presented as a gift to the people of New Zealand by Prime Minister Harold Holt. Despite its romanticism, the ethnographic and botanical accuracy of many aspects of the sketch leads one to wonder whether Meryon’s portrait of Marion with powdered wig, heavy brow, strong straight nose and squarish jaw was also based on accurate but now missing contemporary information. Most probably, the explorer’s face is a product of the artist’s imagination, but the thought that it may have deeper historical origins is tantalizing! The curious, however, will have to forgo the strokes of the artist’s brush for the chapters which follow.


  




  

    
1 Malouin





    

      A place of very great Strength and traffique, there being the most, the fairest and biggest shipping, that I thinck are any other port of Fraunce.




      Peter Maundy on Saint Malo, 1625


    




    The explorer Marc-Joseph Marion Dufresne was born in Saint Malo, Brittany, the son of a wealthy shipowner and merchant Julien Marion Dufresne (1681–1739) and his wife Marie Séraphique Le Fer de la Lande. Although he was christened ‘Marc-Joseph’ on 22 May 17241 and always signed ‘Marc’ in church documents, he was often referred to as ‘Macé’, probably in honour of his maternal grandfather: Macé Le Fer sieur de la Lande (1640–1710).2




    Saint Malo is a proud town. A fortress-port, it stands on a granite islet on the right bank of the Rance estuary where the spring tides can be more than thirteen metres. And what the sea does not envelop, the mist that rolls along the Breton coast can swallow in seconds. It is a port which nurtured sailors who could deal with the unexpected and the unknown. By the 13th century the mariners and merchants of Saint Malo had already made a major entrepôt of their town. In the 15th century, when Brittany was still an independent Duchy, the Malouins had established trading connections not only along the coast of France from Normandy to the Pays Basque, but also with Spain, Portugal, England, Scotland, Ireland and the Low Countries. It was trade supported and expanded by merchants in the inland towns of Lower Normandy and Upper Brittany—members of whose families came and settled behind Saint Malo’s granite walls.3




    In the next two centuries, Saint Malo would establish links with Africa and the Americas; and her merchants and shipowners would grow even wealthier. Dubuisson-Aubenay gave us some idea of their prosperity when he painted a sumptuous portrait of the Malouin table in his Itinéraire de Bretagne (1636). He wrote that ‘the Malouins live splendidly and deliriously; fish is cheap and oysters cost nothing there; [and] water-fowl is at a very good price. There are French wines which come by the river Seine and the coast of Normandy. Most particularly, they drink the wine of Gascony and Spain, red and white’4 In 1665, Louis XIV’s Chief Minister Jean-Baptiste Colbert (1619–1683) observed: ‘Houses and considerable property are today owned by the bourgeoisie of Saint Malo. They have bought them from gentlemen who have been obliged to sell owing to financial difficulty. They even purchase estates in the heart of Brittany and they have money in abundance.’5




    Among those whose prosperity was intimately linked to the rise of Saint Malo were the weavers and merchants of Vitré. (The admiralty registers of Saint Malo contain hundreds of letters addressed to Vitré.) In many instances they became Malouin themselves. Not far from Vitré is the village of Saint Jean-sur-Vilaine. On the outskirts of the village are two parcels of land: La Fontaine and Le Fresne. The ‘s’ is silent in ‘Fresne’ (from Latin fraxinus, an ash tree) and thus it appears as La Frêne on modern maps. In the late 16th century La Fontaine was the property of one Sebastien Marion. Sebastien and his wife Jeanne Croizé had three sons. Mathurin, who died in 1676, inherited La Fontaine from his father. His brother Gilles became a gentleman-landholder at nearby La Bretoisière.6 The youngest of the brothers, Jean, established himself a few hundred metres uphill from La Fontaine at Le Fresne. Among the cluster of oaks which spring from the surrounding wheat-fields, there are still a few ancient buildings which date from the time of Jean Marion ‘Sieur’ du Fresne.7 They are dark, airless cottages of split stone with sagging wooden lintels. If any grander structures once stood beside them, they have long since disappeared. There is no folk memory of the Marions at La Frêne or La Fontaine.8 But, like the small farm of La Pérouse (near Albi in south-west France) which gave a young sailor named Galaup an expanded and now immortal patronym,9 Fresne has been immortalized by its association with a family which, by the early 18th century, had tenuous connections with the land.




    Jean Marion married in June 1619. He and his wife Jeanne Collet had two sons that we know of. The eldest, Jean, died in his twenty-eighth year, but André (1633–1693) considerably expanded his family’s fortunes and prestige when, in August 1673, in the chapel of the Recollets Convent, he married a member of the powerful Magon family.10




    Then merchant shipowners, in the generations to come the Magons would contribute to France’s list of illustrious admirals and statesmen. Chateaubriand, himself a Malouin, mentioned them in his Mémoires d’outre-tombe. According to several Malouin historians, Hélène Séraphique Magon de la Ville Poulet’s dowry was a fabulous six hundred thousand livres!11 Her father Jean (1619–1699) was a nobleman and a conseiller and secrétaire du roi. It seems likely that André Marion du Fresne was already influential within the mercantile community rooted in the Vitré-Saint Malo nexus when he met his future wife. Like the Marion family, the Magons had had connections with the region around Vitré, having settled there from Spain about 1300 before moving to Saint Malo in the 16th century.12




    Two years after his marriage to Hélène, André Marion du Fresne built a magnificent house in the style of the Malouin shipowners in Saint Malo’s rue Saint François. André and Hélène had seven children. Two died as infants. Two entered the religious life. Their fourth child, Julien, who inherited the family home, was the explorer’s father.




    Julien married in 1715 and he and his wife Marie-Séraphique had eight children. Marc was the youngest of the brood. He did not know either of his grandfathers or his maternal grandmother. They were all dead before his birth. His paternal grandmother, from the house of Magon de la Ville Poulet, died in the Benedictine convent at Dol when Marc was just nine months old.13 Her family home, ‘Ville Poulet’ an elegant country house in malouinère style, still stands near Saint Coulomb on the road to Paramé.14




    Although the future explorer may have known the rural tranquillity of ‘Ville Poulet’, he most probably grew up in the Hôtel Marion Dufresne among the crowded bustling streets intra muros. The building was destroyed during the Second World War (along with 80 per cent of the old walled city), but it is possible to offer some description of its plan and decoration. A pre-war postcard reveals that the main entrance was a stone-arched doorway with five beautifully carved wooden panels.15 The historian Etienne Dupont, who mistakenly suggested that the Compagnie des Indes, the French East India Company, had its offices in the Hôtel Marion Dufresne, described it in the 1930s as having ‘a wonderful doorway, an exceedingly elegant staircase, and a magnificent hall with superb wood carving’.16




    From other documents, we know that the house had a ground floor divided into two panelled apartments over cellars and then another three storeys and attic rooms. On entering the main sculptured oak doorway on rue Saint François, one faced an impressive staircase with a handrail and balustrade also of carved oak. As one climbed the stairs, each storey was illuminated by a large window overlooking the rue Saint François. There was a southern courtyard containing a well and an annex that served as stables opening into the rue des Vieux Remparts. The kitchen also opened on to the interior courtyard and the street.17 The house’s grand salon contained a monumental chimney. Just over the hearth were the carved arms of the house of Marion: a palm between two hatched crosses. Next to them were the arms of the Magon family: a crowned lion beneath a chevron and two stars. Well above, a bold oaken eagle stood sentinel over a central circular panel. Rich carved wooden friezes of acanthus and oak leaves, and of fruit and flowers, decorated the exposed joists and the panels of both the walls and ceiling. On some panels the artist had woven serpents in bas relief. It was restrained baroque splendour which harked from the maritime decorative tradition, but spoke of wealth, power, and the aspiration of a bourgeois family for the prestige of the landed nobility.




    Although the Hôtel Marion Dufresne was destroyed in 1944, the historian can write with conviction about the magnificence of its sculptured panels, because they can still be seen. Sometime after 1931, the internal joinery of the ‘grand salon’ was sold to an American buyer who removed it and exhibited it at the New York World Fair. After the Second World War it was purchased by Jansens—the Paris-based antique dealers—and returned to the city of Saint Malo. There the carved oak was installed in the Mayor’s chambers after some changes to the Hôtel de Ville’s fenestration. It is ironic that the initial despoilment of the Marion family home was the cause of its partial preservation!




    Marc grew up metres from the sea. The gulls can still drown out conversation within the walls. From the ramparts, as a child, he must have scoured the horizons for sight of his father’s ships. Not much is known of Julien’s career at sea, but he seems to have been an exceptional mariner who was highly respected by his peers. According to a fellow Malouin, Bernard de la Harpe, Julien was ‘a sensible intelligent officer, and a man of veracity; consequently not liable to be deceived or capable of deceiving any person’.18 During the War of the Spanish Succession, the Malouin corsairs were spectacularly successful preying on British shipping. More than 600 prizes were taken between 1702 and 1712!19 Julien commanded the Marie Magdeleine, a corsair of 230 tons, 26 cannons and a crew of 170.20 In the latter part of the conflict, however, France’s opponents increased patrolling of the Channel and the losses experienced by the shipowners of Saint Malo became unacceptable. Despite daring raids such as that led by Duguay-Trouin, which held Rio de Janeiro to ransom in 1711, the Malouin shipowners looked elsewhere for profit. They took the bold decision to establish a direct maritime trade with Spain’s colonies on the Pacific coast of South America. The French, like the English and the Dutch, had traded in Spanish contraband from their bases in the Caribbean since the mid-17th century. Spain attempted to maintain her trading monopoly, but it became increasingly difficult to exclude the French when a grandson of Louis XIV acceded to the Spanish throne.




    One of the brave Malouin sailors who pioneered this highly lucrative South Sea trade was Julien Marion Dufresne. On 5 September 1711 he departed Saint Malo in the 350 ton Marquis de Vibray which was owned by François Le Fer sieur de Beauvais.21 (Le Fer was a relative of Julien’s future wife and also one of the shipowners who equipped Duguay-Trouin’s bold raid on Rio.) It was a forty thousand kilometres voyage full of perils via furious Cape Horn. But the long dangerous haul to the Peruvian port of Callao, and back, brought rich rewards. (Between 1703 and 1718 almost two hundred million livres of silver made its way to France on ships like the Marquis de Vibray.)22 It took Julien twenty-seven months to sail to Peru. He remained there over five months and set sail for France on 15 May 1714—returning to Saint Malo via Valparaiso and Conception on 10 June 1715.23
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      Marion’s home province of Brittany and the corsair hunting grounds in the English Channel


    




    Julien married five weeks after his return. It seems likely that his great adventure inspired all but one of his surviving sons to make a career of the sea. In the three years prior to Marc’s birth, Julien commanded the Notre Dame du Rosaire and then the Phénix (in which he sailed to Cadiz).24 The first of his father’s ships that Marc would come to know was the Françoise. She was small—between 130 and 150 tons—and, unlike the corsairs which required large numbers of men to board and overcome enemy prizes, she had a crew of only 38 men. Of these, eleven would die in the course of a sinister voyage which took the Françoise to the coast of west Africa to buy 348 slaves and then across the Atlantic to Martinique to sell them to labour hungry planters. From the Caribbean she returned, no doubt laden with sugar and rum, via Nantes to Saint Malo on 25 April 1731. It took only 15 months for Julien to reap yet another rich reward. He had not sailed with the Françoise for he was now wealthy enough to employ others to command his vessels.25 Julien purchased another ship in 1730, the 350 ton Sage; but she does not appear to have been engaged in the slave trade.26




    As early as 1716 the French Crown had issued letters patent which gave official sanction to the slave trade. The King even enacted special slave taxes. Some who suffered pangs of conscience about this horrendous trade, rationalized their guilt away with the perverse logic that the majority of the slaves embarked for America were already condemned to death or slavery as prisoners of war in local African conflicts and would face a far worse fate without their ‘humane’ intervention!27 They seemed oblivious to their promotion of such local conflicts. It is hard to judge the moral impact of the voyage of the Françoise on an impressionable child of Marc’s age. He was later employed by men who, like his father, grew wealthy on the trade; after settling in Mauritius, he himself became a slave-owner and sought to expand this appalling trade in the Indian Ocean.




    Not much is known about the manner in which Marc was educated. Saint Malo had a high literacy rate by the end of the 17th century. The numerous religious orders established in the town assumed a significant responsibility for educating the poor.28 Marc, however, was probably educated by a private tutor. In a city of families of absent sailors, women had a strong matriarchal role. But Marc’s early childhood, more than that of any of his siblings, coincided with his father’s retirement from an active life at sea. One wonders whether Julien assumed a personal role in the education of his two youngest sons, perhaps giving them lessons in navigation and mathematics. Marc was to demonstrate his practical competence as a navigator at an early age. From his letters and journals we know he was literate—though much of his writing is marred by grammatical and spelling errors.




    Aside from the influence of the sea, what is perhaps most obvious when one looks at the Marion household, is the strong influence of religion. His eldest brother Nicolas (1717–1795) entered the priesthood and became Canon of Saint Malo in 1745,29 then, like his illustrious uncle Jean-André, he rose to become Canon of the Bishopric of Dol in 1765.30 He also served as a deputy to the Provincial Assembly in Tours. And Marc’s sister Marie-Séraphique (1721–1791) entered the Ursuline order whose convent once stood close to the centre of the old town.




    The family of Marion Dufresne, therefore, belonged to a unique class of bourgeois merchants and shipowners: pillars of the Church and State, but at the same time competitors with the nobility for important ecclesiastical and secular rank and privilege. And ultimately they were aspirants for acceptance within the aristocracy through ‘ennoblement’. Unlike several of his Magon cousins, this formal recognition by the King was something Marc never attained—although he was made a Chevalier of the Order of Saint Louis. In 1893 the historian Frain de la Gaulayrie (whose wife was a Marion descendant), wrote of the social mobility of the Malouin and Vitréen ‘sellers of cloth and sheets’, and observed that they were ennobled by their ‘charges or the will of Princes and by their alliances’ but ‘above all by the dignity of their life, the boldness of their enterprise [and] the generous employment of their fortunes’.31 It is commonly assumed that the nobility and the clergy were the only privileged groups in France under the Ancien Régime, but privilege took many shapes and forms. While merchant shipowners such as the Marion Dufresnes chafed under feudal restrictions, they themselves enlisted the support of the Crown to establish their own prerogatives. As they expanded their trade abroad, they were able to enjoy a standard of living which far outshone that of the petty nobility—members of which were often unable to afford a carriage or simple lodgings should they venture beyond their estates.32




    Despite the fortunate circumstances of his birth, Marc, like his cleric brother Nicolas, would betray both a potent ambition and concomitant insecurity and desire for acceptance. As we shall see, he was a man capable of bold individual action, yet one who constantly sought approval for his actions—especially when they were outside the confines of the merchant-bourgeois world of the the Compagnie des Indes. It was these ‘extra-mercantile’ adventures which were his greatest achievements and gave his life historical significance.




    In February 1734 Marc’s brother François died on board the Amphitrite as an honorary enseigne in the service of the Compagnie des Indes which held the monopoly on French trade with the East. He was only fifteen years old.33 Undeterred by the misfortune of his brother, the following year Marc went to sea in another of the Company’s ships with the same honorary rank. He was only eleven. It was the beginning of a brilliant career.


  




  

    
2 The Making of a Sailor





    

      ‘Wouldst thou’




      — so the helmsman answered




      ‘Learn the secret of the sea?




      Only those who brave its dangers




      Comprehend its mystery!’




      H. W. Longfellow, The Secret of the Sea


    




    Marion Dufresne’s first voyage was on board the Duc de Bourbon,1 a vessel of 850 tons armed with 32 guns. She had been added to the Compagnie des Indes’ fleet the previous May and she was commanded by a colourful Irishman named Richard Butler.2 Born in New Ross, County Wexford, sometime after 1690,3 he was to have an important influence on Marion Dufresne’s life. By the 18th century, there were significant Irish colonies in Brittany’s ports boosted by refugees from English depredations, but also long-standing commercial relations between Brittany and Ireland. The latter exported butter, salted meat, skins and tallow; in return, the Breton ports exported wine, liqueurs and salt.4 We do not know much about Butler’s early career, but we do know he married Marie-Anne Walsh in Saint Malo in 1721.5 She was a member of another important Irish Jacobite6 family. Butler (when he became a shipowner in his own right) and his brother-in-law, Antoine Walsh, would be among young Marion’s first employers. With them, he would become embroiled in the cause of the deposed Stuarts.




    The Duc de Bourbon set sail from Lorient on 2 February 1735 carrying a short, dark-eyed passenger named Bertrand-François Mahé de la Bourdonnais (1699–1753). La Bourdonnais was an important man. He had commanded several Compagnie des Indes vessels before making a private fortune in Bengal and then leading a successful Portuguese expedition against the pirates of the Malabar coast.7 He was a man of great intelligence, whom Voltaire described as ‘capable of doing much with little’8 and he had boarded the Duc de Bourbon with a royal decree appointing him Governor General of the Iles Soeurs (then the Isle de France and Bourbon, now Mauritius and La Réunion). La Bourdonnais’ young bride of some fourteen months, Anne-Marie Le Brun de la Franquerie, accompanied him. The log of the Duc de Bourbon has not survived, however, we know that the voyage to Mauritius lasted just over four months. Presumably young Marion was given some duties on board and his fellow crewmen assumed some responsibility for giving him practical tuition in seamanship. Since La Bourdonnais was a Malouin and must have known the Marion family, it seems inconceivable that the Governor-designate would have ignored the eleven-year-old ensign during the course of the voyage. He himself had gone to sea at the age of ten and during several long voyages had cajoled priests and officers into teaching him mathematics, navigation and even military engineering. It is likely, therefore, that he took a sympathetic interest in the training of his young companion during their four months at sea.




    The Duc de Bourbon reached the Isle de France on 5 June 1735. When the crew, engineers and artisans aboard disembarked, they found ‘one good house and many miserable huts’.9 Officially, the island had been a French possession since 1715, however settlement had begun only in the early 1720s. The Isle de France, with its stunning weathered volcanic craters and its fertile plains of eroded lava was completely uninhabited when first sighted around the 10th century by Arab-Swahili navigators in their sleek dhows. In 1500, the Portuguese, who named it Cirné, were the first Europeans to visit the island; they made no attempt to establish a colony. Then came the Dutch who tried twice to nurture a viable base (in the years 1638–1658 and 1664–1710) and ravaged the forests before finally abandoning the island.10 By 1735, under French rule, the struggling settlement comprised some 1900 individuals, the vast majority of whom were slaves.11




    Mahé de la Bourdonnais had already visited the Isle de France in 1723 and had long recognized its potential. He had actively sought the commission of Governor and was convinced the island could be transformed into a powerful Indian Ocean base for France. Marion would also share in this optimism, for he would visit the island many times in the course of his career and ultimately make it his home. The memory of his boyhood visit to the island would provide a striking reference point.




    With extraordinary dedication, La Bourdonnais began a remarkable transformation of the island. He established the town and harbour of Port Louis, constructed roads, imported draught animals and began exploitation of local timber for shipbuilding. He also encouraged the cultivation of sugar-cane, cotton, coffee, fruit trees and indigo, and built hospitals, barracks, warehouses, government offices, fortifications and a vital aqueduct. To supply the labour for these projects, he imported some 2400 slaves from Mozambique. During his dynamic five years in office, the European population of the colony trebled in size. La Bourdonnais, however, would lose his wife and son in these years. Later he would go on to command a fleet (of largely locally-built privateers) which routed the English at Negapatam and brought about the surrender of Madras. For all his achievements, he received little recognition and his enemies succeeded in having him thrown into the Bastille. He died, a broken man in 1753, two years after his release.12




    La Bourdonnais’ vision was a dual one. He envisaged the Isle de France and Bourbon having complementary roles—one as a maritime trade and naval base, the other as a granary. Although Bourbon was the older French colony (having been settled by France in 1664), its development was limited by its lack of a natural harbour, so La Bourdonnais moved the seat of government to the Isle de France. Nevertheless, he continued to spend several months of each year in Bourbon. His first visit as Governor was made on board the Duc de Bourbon and he landed on the island on 12 July 1735—just over a month after reaching the Isle de France.13 Marion witnessed this historic visit and the beginnings of La Bourdonnais’ remarkable stewardship in the Mascarenes.




    The Compagnie des Indes could not afford to have its ships remain idle when there was commerce to pursue. With men and supplies unloaded and La Bourdonnais’ passage back to the Isle de France organized on the Jupiter, Butler weighed anchor and the Duc de Bourbon left the rugged beauty of Bourbon for the teeming port of Pondicherry—France’s colony on India’s Coromandel coast ‘founded and nurtured amid the clash of arms and the clamour of falling kingdoms’ in 1675.14 On board was Pierre Benoît Dumas (1696–1746), La Bourdonnais’ predecessor in the Mascarenes and the Governor-designate of French colonies in India. The Duc de Bourbon appears to have reached Pondicherry on 18 September 1735.15




    Pondicherry had many advantages for the Compagnie des Indes. For nine months of the year it was sheltered from the monsoons, and it was located on the estuary of a river navigable by shallow draught boats. In 1693 Pondicherry had been captured by the Dutch. When it was returned, after the Treaty of Rijswijk in 1697, France inherited the most impressive fortifications in India. These defences were strengthened by Governor Pierre Christophe Lenoir (1683–1743) who appears to have returned to France with Butler and Marion on the Duc de Bourbon. Like the Isle de France, Pondicherry, with its fine gardens, orderly grid of streets and avenues of trees, was a French colony Marion would come to know well in years to come. After loading her cargo and embarking the former Governor, the Duc de Bourbon set sail once more and soon lost sight of Pondicherry’s white Tamil houses set against the malachite green Coromandel coast. She returned to France on 11 May 1736, a few days before Marion’s twelfth birthday.16




    Service records indicate that Marion did not go to sea again until 1740. In the meantime his sister Marie-Hélène married in March 1737 and his father Julien died in April 1739. One can speculate that further formal education and his father’s final illness kept him at home. Yet there was also an established tradition among many Malouin merchant families of sending their sons to foreign lands so they would learn other languages and further their families’ commercial contacts. From one of his letters, we know Marion learnt ‘Hindustani’, but this may have been a skill he acquired much later in life.17
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      Le Port de Saint Malo, 1776, engraving by Yves-Marie Le Gouaz (1742–1816) from a drawing by Nicolas Ozanne (1728–1811)
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      Door and portal of the Hôtel Marion Dufresne, Saint Malo, postcard, 1930s
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      Fireplace and carved oak panelling of the Hôtel Marion Dufresne, heliogravure of a photograph by Jules Robuchon published in his Paysages et monuments de la Bretagne, Dujardin, Paris, 1887
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      Detail of The Death of Marion Dufresne, crayon, pencil and chalk sketch by Charles Méryon (1821–1868)
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      The cross of the military order of Saint Louis, of which Marion became a chevalier in February 1761, photograph by Susan Duyker
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      A modern reconstruction of the Du Teillay from contemporary sources, scale drawing by Harold Wyllie, 1965
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      Antoine Walsh and Bonnie Prince Charlie landing at Moidart from the Du Teillay, artist unknown
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      ‘Kilbride House’, South Uist, before its demolition in 1912 (above) and its surviving gates, photograph by Susan Duyker, 1992
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      Detail from a contemporary letter card showing the privateers Prince de Conty and Heureux rescuing Bonnie Prince Charlie
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      Loch nan Uamh, photograph by Edward Duyker
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      Roscoff, on the coast of Brittany, where Marion and Tréhouart de Beaulieu landed Bonnie Prince Charlie, photograph by Edward Duyker
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      Le Port de Lorient, 1776, engraving by Le Gouaz (1742–1816) from a drawing by Nicolas Ozanne (1728–1811)
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      Lochaber No More, oil painting by John Blake Macdonald (1829–1901) of Bonnie Prince Charlie leaving Scotland
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      Lord Anson’s Victory 1747, oil on canvas by Samuel Scott (1701–1772) The Invincible, with her mainmast shattered and her topmast shot away, lies starboard of HMS Prince George (centre).
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      Battle of Quiberon Bay, 1759, oil painting by Richard Wright (1735–1775)
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      Ile de Gorée, 1835 This hand-coloured aquatint, from a painting by Barthélemy Lauvergne (1805–1875), engraved by Sigismond Himley (1801–1872), shows the French fort off the coast of Senegal.
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      Eglise des Pamplemousses, à l’Isle de France, 1835 This hand-coloured aquatint from a painting by Edmond Paris (1806–1893), engraved by Sigismond Himley (1801–1872), shows the church of Saint-François built in 1756.
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      Bertrand François Mahé de La Bourdonnais, Governor (1735–1746) (above) and Pierre Poivre, commissaire-général, of the Isle de France, oil paintings, artists unknown
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      Louis XV, from a painting by François-Hubert Drouais (1727–1775)
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      Charles Henry Louis d’Arsac, Chevalier de Ternay, from a family miniature
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      Le Duc d’Aiguillon, artist unknown, from the Gallery of the Marquis de Chabrillan
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      Alexandre Gui Pingré, oil painting by d’Hautecombe, 1774
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      Marion’s tortoise in 1870 It died in 1917 and is now preserved in the British Museum (Natural History)
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      Detail from Hémisphère Méridional pour voir plus distinctement Les Terres Australes, Amsterdam, c. 1740, a revised copper-plate engraving of Guillaume Delisle’s map of the Southern Hemisphere including Bouvet de Lozier’s discoveries in the south Atlantic, 1739 Although it does not include the later discoveries of Wallis and Bougainville, it effectively summarises the geographical information at Marion’s disposal before his voyage of 1771–1772.


    




    According to a register held in the Port Archives of Brest, Marion Dufresne made a voyage on a ship called the Saint Esprit in 1740.18 We know nothing of this voyage. Saint Esprit was a popular religious name for several ships of this period involved in the long established trade with Cadiz.19




    Spain was then at war with England and it would be only a few years before the waters of the Atlantic would be disturbed by the crack of English and French guns. This conflict was part of a widescale European conflict now known as the War of the Austrian Succession. Charles VI, the Hapsburg Holy Roman Emperor, had no male heir and before his death had used diplomatic pressure to obtain the assent of the European powers to a ‘Pragmatic Sanction’ to ensure the peaceful succession of his daughter Maria Theresa (1717–1780). But with Charles’s death on 20 October 1740, Maria Theresa’s sex was used as a pretext by Frederick the Great of Prussia for an invasion of Silesia in December 1740. With calculated opportunism, Louis XV supported the rather flimsy claims of Bavaria, Saxony and Spain to parts of the Hapsburg dominions in the hope of weakening Austria, his long-standing European rival. In June 1741 a Franco-Prussian alliance was concluded. Two months later, the French army crossed the Rhine and with their Bavarian allies took Prague. Another French force captured Westphalia and threatened Hanover.20 Inevitably the English became concerned that Austria’s defeat would ensure French hegemony in Europe and ultimately prevent Britain from expanding her colonial interests in America and the East. Britain had already been attempting to smash the Spanish commercial stranglehold on the Caribbean through force of arms since 1739. Although at war with a nation whose ships and colonies were actively protected by France, Britain did not find herself at war with Spain’s powerful ally until March 1744. This was despite the fact that British and French forces had already clashed on land at Dettingen in June 1743 and at sea off Toulon in February 1744. Britain would forge an anti-French coalition with Austria, subsidize the defence of the Netherlands with Hanoverian and other German troops and seek to shatter the French fleet. France, on the other hand, would continue the continental campaign against Austria, but also attempt to sweep aside the Royal Navy and support a Stuart restoration in Britain. (France had already set in motion plans for a surprise invasion of Britain which were thwarted by violent storms in early March 1744.)21




    As Britain and France once more opened their veins, the merchants and shipowners of Saint Malo and Nantes saw opportunities to resume their profitable and now almost traditional wartime occupation of privateering. In 1744, 20-year-old Marion would receive his baptism of fire as a corsair. The ship on which he served as an acting lieutenant was the Du Teillay22 named in honour of a Nantes naval commissioner. (The name of the ship was often misspelt; in some books, documents and articles it appears as Doutelle and even Tellery.)




    One of the two owners of the Du Teillay was a short, purse-lipped Irish Jacobite named Antoine Walsh. Walsh’s father, a wealthy Dubliner, had commanded the ship which brought the deposed Stuart king James II to exile in France. His mother’s family, the Whites, originated in Waterford. Walsh was a merchant-shipowner who grew rich on the Nantes-based slave trade and from plantations in Martinique. (In 1749 he purchased the Château de Serrant near Nantes; and in 1755 his brother was created ‘Comte de Serrant’ by royal letters patent.)23




    In command of the 175 ton Du Teillay was Pierre Thomas. He was an experienced captain who had made several voyages on behalf of Nantes slave traders on La Nymphe in 1736 and 1739, and on La Jeune Catin in 1742. (Between 1746 and 1774 he would make another four such slaving expeditions.)24 Marion was among 180 other officers and men who volunteered to serve under Thomas’ command. For weaponry they had to rely on 18 cannon and 20 swivel guns. The ship’s one year commission as a corsair was signed on 4 July 1744. It strictly controlled Captain Thomas’ conduct according to the ‘regulations of the navy’ and obliged him to ‘carry during his voyage the flag and ensign of the King’, but also gave him considerable freedom ‘to harm the enemy’ through all ‘permissible acts of war, to take and bring prisoners with their ships, arms and other things’.25




    The Du Teillay captured three English merchantmen by the end of November. Marion certainly saw action aboard, for the report to the authorities in Nantes indicates that one of these English ships did not surrender without a fight. But it could not have been very spirited or potent defence, because Du Teillay’s casualties were light. Louis Guignemer, a volunteer from Servens, was accidentally killed when his gun fell and discharged on 20 July. Only one other crew member appears to have succumbed during the term of the corsair’s commission, but this was in hospital in the port of Brest. Another English ship, carrying a cargo of salt, seems to have been released by the Du Teillay after one of her officers was taken as a hostage. (The taking of hostages for ransom was a common practice at the time; five ransom letters were tendered to the naval authorities in Nantes by the Du Teillay’s second-in-command Antoine Le Manquet de Beaulieu in December 1744.)26




    Antoine Walsh and other Irish Jacobite shipowners had plans for grander privateering ventures in the West Indies, but by insisting on total control they clashed with the Navy Minister, Maurepas, who wanted regular French officers to be in command, since they were to be part of the crews. In the meantime, on 12 April, Walsh was approached by Prince Charles Edward Stuart for assistance in gaining a passage to Scotland in order to raise the Highlanders and regain the British throne for the Stuarts. Walsh promptly agreed and, on 27 April 1745, Prince Charles wrote to him: ‘what you have engaged to do is the most important service anyone could ever do me’.27 All these negotiations were conducted in the greatest secrecy.




    Louis XV had initially been strongly committed to restoration of the Stuarts and to a Jacobite rising as an adjunct to his own invasion plans but, after the element of surprise was lost and his invasion fleet had been smashed by tempests in early March 1744, his support became lukewarm. Thus, although the Jacobites continued to press for a firm commitment of French men and arms, they made their own secret and independent plans. It is entirely possible that because of these secret plans, Walsh did not want Marion on board the Du Teillay and therefore arranged for him to be employed by his brother-in-law Richard Butler soon after agreeing to Charles’ request. This is not to suggest that he did not trust his young lieutenant. To the French authorities, Walsh wanted to present a façade of preparation for a Caribbean marauding expedition made up completely of Irish volunteers. If no French officers were involved, it would enable him to circumvent Maurepas’ previously stated objections to Jacobite privateering in the West Indies. Walsh’s fellow Jacobite, Sir Walter Ruttledge, a Dunkirk merchant, also managed to lease a decommissioned warship the Elisabeth and embark 100 Irish marines raised by Lord Clare, together with 2000 muskets and 600 broadswords. All these preparations had been speeded up after the French victory at the Battle of Fontenoy. With British troops tied down in Flanders, the Hanoverians had become acutely vulnerable to a Jacobite revolt.28




    Within a few months of Marion’s departure from Du Teillay, she was loaded with 1500 guns and ammunition, 1800 broadswords and a chest of 4000 Louis d’Or which Walsh untruthfully declared to the Minister for War, Comte d’Argenson, were for his own plantations in Martinique. On 4 July, with Charles Edward on board, the Du Teillay met the Elisabeth off Belle Isle. They set sail for Scotland, but the next day were attacked by HMS Lion (60 guns). The Elisabeth, badly damaged and her captain mortally wounded, was forced to return to port. The Du Teillay nevertheless managed to escape and reach Loch Nan Uamh29 on 25 July 1745. Although stripped of most of his men and stores on the Elisabeth, in the following months ‘Bonnie’ Prince Charlie would succeed in raising the Highlands, gaining control of Scotland and plunging south into England.30 Jacobite successes renewed French interest in invading Britain in their support, but ‘a seemingly total failure to maintain secrecy, coupled with slowness of preparations’31 ultimately made it impossible to despatch their formidable armada. With no French assistance, the Highlanders began their retreat from Derby. France still attempted to send funds: one ship came to grief, the other was too late. Alternative plans to land troops in Ireland and Scotland came to nothing. With Charles’s retreat from Derby and the absence of visible French support came desertions, divisions, tactical blunders and ultimately the horrendous defeat on Culloden moor at the hands of the brutal Duke of Cumberland. Hanoverian artillery cut the clansmen to pieces, then ‘Butcher’ Cumberland and his Campbell allies shot and bayonetted the wounded and those who had surrendered. The Jacobites continued to hope for a Stuart restoration, but Culloden effectively spelled an end to their dreams—even if they were not then aware of the fact. Marion took no part in these momentous events but, as we shall see, he was to have a remarkable role in the rescue of the fugitive Stuart prince from Scotland’s bloodied heather.




    Whatever the reason for Marion Dufresne’s departure from the Du Teillay, we can assume he acquitted himself well as a corsair during her cruise. Not only did he find employment with Antoine Walsh’s brother-in-law, his old captain Richard Butler, he was also given his first command. Butler’s private fortunes had improved considerably since his voyage a decade earlier on the Duc de Bourbon. He had made other voyages to Guinea32 and China.33 Naturalized in 1740, he had the satisfaction of seeing the Parliament of Brittany ratify his claim to nobility four years later.34 He had acquired enough capital to become a shipowner in his own right; and, with the onset of war, had turned to privateering. Yet, beset by advancing years, he had given active command of his ships to a number of trusted young men. Marion Dufresne, already well known to him, was one of these men.




    The ship Butler handed over to Marion was the Catin of 140 tons. She had a crew of 121 men and her commission as a corsair was dated 21 April 1745.35 It would seem she captured two English prizes. One of these was the three-masted Henry, 160 tons, bound for Bristol from the Caribbean with a cargo of cacao and sugar. Her captain, Joseph Little, surrendered on 21 May after only two shots from the Catin. Back in Saint Malo, Richard Butler soon had a broadsheet printed advertising all her details and inviting prospective buyers to her sale on the afternoon of 22 June 1745.36 As we shall see, the auction may not have taken place. On 28 May the Catin was herself captured by the English. The details are very sketchy and we do not know if Marion spent the next six or seven months in England until an exchange of prisoners was arranged, or whether his release was merely dependent on the payment of a ransom. He does not appear in the records again until 10 January 1746 when Butler gave him command of another ship, the Prince de Conty.37 This ship may in fact have been the Henry renamed. Both ships were about the same size. But we know that the Prince de Conty’s bow was adorned with ‘a white sea-horse on each side’38 and that the Henry, captured by Marion while in command of the Catin, also bore a figurehead of ‘two sea-horses’ This was surely more than coincidence. On hearing that the Catin was in English hands, Butler may have decided not to sell the Henry and have fitted her out as a corsair instead. One wonders if he would have been as forgiving and prepared to give Marion a second chance had the young skipper not effectively captured a replacement for the ship he had lost!




    In his command of the Prince de Conty, Marion would be spectacularly successful—capturing seven prizes and acquiring two ransoms. Discipline on a corsair had to be strict. The crews had only one motivation: a share of the money raised from captured prizes. It could not have been easy for a relatively unproven captain, not yet twenty-two years of age, to gain the confidence of such men. Marion did. In general, when the time came for the Malouin corsairs to risk their lives in front of English guns or in the savagery of close-quarter combat during boarding, they proved themselves. Not only did they have to risk losing their lives in battle, they had to sustain themselves on a meagre diet of biscuits and sardines. For Marion’s men, such conditions were made all the more difficult by winter weather. The Prince de Conty set sail in mid-January. This was not unusual. As Lord Russell of Liverpool has written:




    

      corsair ships made most of their sorties during the winter, which was much more suitable than summer. The long dark moonless nights, frequent squalls and rough seas frequently separated the enemy’s merchant ships from their convoys, made it difficult for the English coastguards to keep a good look-out and allowed the corsairs to sneak away unseen after they had captured a prize, but the Malouin crews had to bear the brunt of it all. Although the weather conditions from May to September were naturally much better, the dangers of privateering were greater. There were many more English men-of-war cruising up and down the Channel, and even if the corsairs succeeded in capturing a prize there was less chance of getting it safely back to a French port as the nights were, of course, much shorter. Furthermore, there were fewer opportunities of capturing a worthwhile prize because, doubtless for the same reasons, there were less enemy ships in the Channel during the summer months than in winter.39


    




    Success under such conditions was the mark of exceptional mariners. Yet there were developments in early 1746 which gave Malouin corsairs such as Marion Dufresne some unusual advantages. With all available French merchant ships in the Channel ports being requisitioned as transports and with normal trade suspended, the English were well alerted to the threat they faced. Accordingly, they stepped up patrols against convoys augmenting the invasion fleet in Boulogne and Calais. This shifted considerable English attention from waters in the vicinity of Saint Malo to those to the north-east of the Channel. (Not surprisingly, on 26 January, the Duc de Richelieu (1696–1788), whose other invasion plans had come unstuck, would argue for a simultaneous crossing of at least three thousand men to Ireland and Cornwall to be covered by the privateers of Saint Malo!)40 The registers of Marion’s prizes indicate that most were taken in waters of 50°N. These were the traditional hunting grounds of the Malouin corsairs. Again, as Lord Russell tells us:




    

      Once having left St. Malo they preferred to cruise westward along the coast of Brittany, where they could if necessary take refuge, in an emergency or exceptionally bad weather, in ports like Paimpol, Morlaix, Roscoff and Brest and from which they could sail without difficulty towards Start Point, The Lizard, Plymouth Sound, Salcombe, Lands End, the Scilly Isles, the Bristol Channel and the Irish Sea, where there was always a chance of intercepting a valuable cargo ship en route from India, Africa or North America. The favourite haunt of smaller ships with a shallow draft was the Channel Islands. There they could hide in numerous creeks and spy on English merchant vessels, make a surprise attack on them and take them back to St. Malo without much fear of being spotted by one of the many English cruisers which patrolled the English Channel.41


    




    The Prince de Conty’s first prize under Marion’s command was the Caroline. She weighed only 60 tons and was bound for Cork from Yarmouth with a cargo of barley. It wasn’t worth returning to Saint Malo with such a small prize, so Marion demanded a £200 sterling ransom from her Captain, William Iven, and took her pilot Samuel Peachmay, as security. This was within a few days of setting sail from Saint Malo. On 31 January Marion took the Minland from Brighton with a cargo of flannel. In the following month he was to have even more spectacular results. In roughly the same waters, he took the Planter’s Friendship. She was a rich prize, twice the size of his own vessel and laden with tobacco and other valuable merchandise from Virginia. Captain William Hooper, weary from an Atlantic crossing, had only 4 cannons, 4 pierrier mortars and 22 rifles to match the Prince de Conty’s 18 guns and heavily armed crew. This was the arithmetic Marion depended on.42




    In April came the capture of the Portboy weighing 120 tons, laden with sugar and cotton, and bound for London probably from the West Indies. She was armed with only 2 cannons and small arms. One can imagine the despair of her Captain, John Smith, and his crew being taken so close to home after the perils of a long voyage. Yet they were not to be alone in their despair. On what appears to have been the same day, the Prince de Conty took the 70 ton Jeane Marie with a cargo of rice and dye-wood from Carolina. Her Captain, John Hurley, attempted to escape, but was ultimately overtaken. She was followed by the 70 ton St John, brimming with white wine, oranges and lemons. Their spirits no doubt boosted by the twin blessings of alcohol and (the then unknown) vitamin C, Marion’s crew took on the St John of Hanton the following month. Weighing about 100 tons and destined for a fishing expedition in the Bay of Conception, she was captured within nine leagues of the English coast. Her cargo of foodstuffs would serve France as useful provisions. Finally, we know from one of Richard Butler’s broadsheets that during the same cruise the Prince de Conty captured a three-masted, 60 ton sloop, the Industry, laden with a cargo of wheat and rye.43




    Butler could not have been anything but pleased with the young captain in his employ. Within a few months, Marion Dufresne had captured a thousand tons of enemy shipping. Thus, when Butler was prevailed upon to support a secret and dangerous mission at the behest of France and the House of Stuart, he did not have to look far for a daring and talented commander.
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